
   [image: cover]


   
      
         1

         
            
               I wish the sea were not so wide

               That parts me from my love;

               I wish the things men do below

               Were known to God above.

            

            
               I wish that I were back again

               In the glens of Donegal,

               They’ll call me coward if I return,

               But a hero if I fall.

            

            
               ‘Is it better to be a living coward,

               Or thrice a hero dead?’

               ‘It’s better to go to sleep, my lad,’

               The Colour Sergeant said.

            

            
                

               ‘A Lament’ by Private Patrick MacGill

               Dec 1889–Nov 1963

               From Glenties, County Donegal

               1/18th London Regiment (London Irish Rifles)

            

         

         
            Praise for A Coward If I Return, A Hero If I Fall

            ‘Remarkable … insightful.’ Sunday Independent

            ‘Neil Richardson conveys the personal experiences of the soldiers and what life was really like facing enemy lines.’ Irish Post

            ‘This very rich text will be read with interest by all those seeking to understand the impact of the war on Ireland and the Irish.’ warbooksreview.com

            ‘A wonderful book.’ Drogheda Independent

            ‘A poignant and sometimes harrowing collection of personal experiences from The Great War.’ Sligo Weekender2
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        For Caroline – my inspiration
      

            
                

            

            
        This book is dedicated to every Irish soldier in every army – past, present and future
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             A Note from the Author on this Tenth-Anniversary Edition

         

         When this book was published in 2010, I was twenty-five years old and the centenary period of the First World War was still four years away. The conflict was then a misunderstood, mostly-forgotten aspect of Irish history. Now, a year after the centenary period has ended, Ireland has thankfully awoken from its ‘collective amnesia’ of 1914–1918 to a great degree.

         In 2013, Ireland’s Taoiseach Enda Kenny was widely publicised walking the Flanders battlefields – where so many Irish lie buried – with British Prime Minister David Cameron. In 2016, the Battle of the Somme was commemorated throughout Ireland with a series of events and ceremonies. The following year, the Battle of Messines Ridge – where Irish soldiers from both unionist and nationalist backgrounds fought and died side by side – was remembered. Honouring the Irish fallen of the Spring Offensive followed in 2018. Publications throughout the centenary period by authors such as Turtle Bunbury, Kevin Myers and Ronan McGreevy have greatly increased Irish awareness of the war and what it meant for our island. The varied – and frequently painful – experiences of veterans returning home are also more widely known. All of this can only be viewed in an extremely positive light; old wounds have been healed and shared histories remembered.

         On a personal note, this book would heavily influence the subsequent nine years of my life. Because of its publication, I was invited to speak at academic seminars and commemorative events across Ireland, the United Kingdom and Belgium. I was involved with the 2014 RTÉ documentary My Great War. Two books followed: Dark Times, Decent Men: Stories of Irishmen in WWII (2012), and According to Their Lights: Stories of Irishmen in the British Army, Easter 1916 (2015). In 2017 I completed an MA in Military History and Strategic Studies, and I am now studying for a PhD in History, focussing on the Irish at the Third Battle of Ypres 1917. I owe a debt of gratitude to A Coward If I Return, A Hero If I Fall: Stories of Irishmen in WWI, and the soldiers whose stories are contained within.

         
             

         

         Neil Richardson
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            Introduction

         

         When I decided to write this book, I was not sure how to go about it. How do you select a few men from 200,000 in order to tell the story of Irishmen in the First World War? There were some soldiers that I picked myself, men whose stories I wanted to tell, but for the majority I decided to submit articles to national newspapers, appealing for people whose ancestors had fought to contact me. Whoever contacted me, I would do my best to research and include the story of their ancestor.

         The outcome was phenomenal. Not only was I contacted by hundreds of people from Ireland, I also received calls, post and emails from Irish in the UK, Australia, and America – people who had left these shores long ago but who still had the local papers sent to them, or who kept up on the latest news via the web. What I ended up gathering was a precious collection of first-hand oral accounts – stories that were told by the veterans themselves and then recounted to me by their children or grandchildren. These individual histories were perfect for giving a more personal edge to the famous battles and events of the war, 10and they allowed me to show what individual men went through – especially the ordinary private soldiers, those men who, for the most part, kept no diaries. When I cross-referenced these stories with surviving archival records, I was amazed by how accurately the veterans had imparted their experiences. These men’s stories needed to be recorded and told.

         Furthermore, I also never expected for the result of my newspaper appeal to be so representative of Irish First World War soldiers as a whole. There are men of all backgrounds and political opinions from nearly every county, including shopkeepers from Limerick, fishermen from Kerry, farmers from Waterford, labourers from Athlone, gentry from Cavan, Dublin men who worked for Guinness’s, ardent republicans and diehard unionists. Many were killed, and although many came home, none really survived the war. The men who left Ireland’s shores did not come back the same. There are officers and NCOs, privates and medal winners – those who were awarded the Victoria Cross, the highest award for bravery, and those who were executed for desertion.

         I decided to write this book because of my great-grandfather, Martin Gaffey. I never met the man – he died years before I was born – but the story of him always held some intense interest for me. He had fought in the First World War, I was told. He had been shot through the neck, had survived and was sent home. There were a few medals in the house that the children used to play with. When Martin died he was buried in his hometown. He was remembered only by those who had met him, and the stories they would tell about him. I wanted to know more.

         11What kind of man was he? Who was he before the war and what did it do to him? What did he go through when he was over there? Did he fight in any battles? Did he see the mud and shell craters and trenches of France and Flanders? Did he kill anyone?

         The First World War suddenly turned into a sort of morbid fascination for me, perhaps because like so many other men who have only read about war on this scale, I wanted to know would I have measured up, would I have charged over the parapet, screaming at the top of my lungs, when the officer blew his whistle? Would I have been brave enough to go back out into no-man’s-land to rescue a wounded friend, even when I had already managed to make it back to safety?

         Then I realised something. Like so many other writers on the subject, I was starting to glorify the men who fought in the war and, by association, the war itself. Asking if I would have measured up suggested that there was some great masculine challenge involved, that the war really was a test that a soldier could simply pass or fail.

         The truth is that the First World War was not a glorious struggle. A lot had changed since Carl von Clausewitz had written in his book, On War (1832), that ‘War is nothing but a duel on an extensive scale … Each [side] strives by physical force to compel the other to submit to his will.’ Surviving a battle in this new style of industrialised, mechanised slaughter had very little to do with how strong, smart or well trained you were. It had very little to do with honour and nobility. Rather, it had everything to do with blind luck and pure chance. Survival often depended simply on where you were when a shell came screaming to earth, or when a blast of machine-gun fire raked across a patch of no-man’s-land.

         Even though Ireland has begun to acknowledge its First World War involvement, that acknowledgement often comes with qualifiers. On the one hand, there is the tendency to see the soldiers as heroes who went to fight for Belgium – for the freedom of small nations – or as proto-republicans who enlisted to secure Home Rule. This, of course, brings the Irishmen who fought in the trenches that little bit more into the nationalist fold – it makes them acceptable to a modern, republican Ireland. Another qualifier is that they had no choice, that they were poverty-stricken, ill-educated paupers who needed food in their stomachs and boots on their feet, while the older reason was that Irish First 12World War veterans were all foolish idiots that fought for the wrong side in the wrong war.

         While the reasons why all these men went to war are certainly interesting, they should not form the basis of whether we remember them, acknowledge them, or mourn those who suffered tragic deaths. Why these Irishmen chose to go is worthy of mention, but when the artillery opened up, when the gas clouds rolled in across no-man’s-land, and when the order was given to fix bayonets, those reasons melted away leaving each man – idealist, pauper, or idiot – exposed as a mere mortal. Therefore, the details that are really significant in any First World War story are who the men were, what they experienced, what they saw, and what it did to them afterwards.

         In the past, in this country, there was a tendency to sideline veterans of the First World War in favour of remembering those of the 1916 Rising and the War of Independence. The men of the flying columns deserve their praise; they 13stood up for what they believed in, against the might of the British Empire. They lived in fear, moving constantly from place to place, giving up their homes and their loved ones to free their people from oppression. This book is not an attempt to deride the veterans of the War of Independence in favour of First World War soldiers; it is merely seeking to acknowledge the experiences of the latter.

         The Irish State awarded 2,411 medals to commemorate participation in the 1916 Rising, and 62,868 for service during the War of Independence (with only 15,224 of these being issued to fighting men of the flying columns). These figures can be taken to represent the number of soldiers who took part in these two pivotal events in Irish history, but when we compare this with the fact that 200,000 men from the island of Ireland (and a further 300,000 Irish emigrants or sons born to Irish parents elsewhere) served in the First World War, and between 35,000–50,000 of them (as much as eighty percent of which may have been from the south), perhaps more, never returned home, we really cannot afford to ignore the significance of the First World War in Ireland. The 1911 census recorded 2,192,048 males living in Ireland. Approximately 700,000 were in the seventeen to thirty-five age bracket and this means that twenty-five to thirty percent of Irishmen eligible for recruitment fought in the war. Of course, this figure still does not include men and women who worked in industries that supplied the war effort or Irish people who emigrated to Britain to work in munitions factories, and so, in the early days of republican rebellion, it is easy to see why there was fierce opposition to such aggressive nationalism – because so many Irish families had sons, husbands, and brothers fighting overseas, while thousands of Irish women played their part in war-related industries. But for whatever reasons, the memory of all this has been deleted from our national psyche.

         What the Irishmen (and indeed every other man) in the First World War went through has no parallel in all of history. The Second World War may have been bloodier and far costlier in terms of human life, but the First World War had its own unique psychology. The Second World War was the war of movement that the First World War was meant to be but never was. Men sat in their trenches and waited for death to rain down on them, or they died in their thousands, as wave after wave were sent walking towards a wall of machine-gun 14bullets. The First World War was also, as the name implies, the first of its kind, and the scale of the destruction and the killing produced a cultural aftershock that resonates down to the present day. The horror of the Second World War was, on many levels, a continuation of the madness of the First, and while the concentration camps and the atomic bomb shocked the world in a way that the First World War never did, the 1914–1918 conflict introduced the globe to industrialised slaughter and mindless devastation.

         We are used to ten or twenty people being killed by insurgents in the Middle East – or the deaths of two or three soldiers in a roadside bombing. These are terrible events, and any loss of life like this is tragic. But in the First World War, deaths were not measured by the dozens, or even the hundreds, but in the thousands. The worst and most famous example is the first day of the Battle of the Somme. Twenty thousand were killed and a further 40,000 wounded on the British side alone. Can you imagine if Croke Park, packed to capacity, was blown up, with one quarter killed outright and the rest severely injured? Now imagine it happening perhaps two or three times a year, over and over and over. That was the First World War – men died in their thousands, men were blown apart in their thousands and, in Ireland, men were forgotten in their thousands.

         The Irish Times security analyst and former Irish Defence Forces officer Tom Clonan refers to this as Irish ‘collective amnesia’, and in an RTÉ radio interview he once said that ‘to put this in context, and I don’t mean to trivialise casualties, but of twenty years’ involvement in the Lebanon we lost maybe fifty people, 15there or thereabouts. In the opening hours of the Battle of the Somme you had 60,000 troops were killed…. in the whole of Vietnam there were 66,000 troops killed and the American involvement in Vietnam stretched over nearly fifteen years. In one morning, 60,000 troops. And that’s the extraordinary thing about the Irish casualties. I mean … approximately 50,000 Irish soldiers died in the First World War. Now that is approximate to the number of Americans that were killed in Vietnam. Vietnam is a big scar on the American psyche; its commemorated, we’re all aware of it. But that’s out of a population of nearly 200 million people. We had 50,000 people killed out of a population of what, two and a half million … America commemorates Vietnam … and for us, as such a small nation, we’ve swept them under the carpet. We do not remember them. All those boys …’

         The answer as to why the Irish people have this ‘collective amnesia,’ as Tom Clonan calls it, is simple. The independent, republican Ireland of the post-War of Independence years had no place and no tolerance for those who had formerly served the crown, not unless they were willing to put their years of imperial service to good use by joining the IRA or the National (Free State) Army. But why the bitterness? Why the hatred? It could be a reflection of just how bad the Irish considered life under British rule, or of the path that the fledgling Irish State took as it tried to carve out its own identity in the world, but either way, the effect was the same. First World War veterans, as perceived symbols and reminders of the old colonial power, were shunned, ignored and made to feel ashamed. It was one thing to reject all things English, but when that included 16Irishmen who had worn the British uniform, that had a terrible effect on so many thousands of lives.

         This shunning of Irish First World War veterans had other effects. On the one hand, men were completely erased from family histories, while, on the other, the stories of trench veterans were altered and warped to ‘justify’ their actions. In many cases, while I was interviewing surviving family of veterans, I found that the details of stories had been changed over the years, to include facts that were not true or simply could not be true. In some instances, I was told that ‘Paddy died, only seventeen years old, the poor young lad’ when military, census, birth and baptism records prove that ‘Paddy’ was really in his twenties when he was killed. While many Irish soldiers were underage – many of whom were killed in action – some families curiously made their veterans younger when the story was passed on. In other instances, I heard that ‘the reason why Paddy went was because he was conscripted. They forced him into the trenches.’ Conscription was never introduced in Ireland, and in all of these conscription and false-youth stories, I have always found that the soldier’s family at the time turn out to be ardently republican. The conscription and false-youth stories then turn out to be merely an attempt to remove ‘blame’ from the soldier for having signed up to the British Army – if he was young, then he was not old enough to know any better, and if he was conscripted, then it was not his fault that he served the crown (Curiously, on more than one occasion, I was also told that ‘Paddy fought in the First World War alright, but not in the British Army. He would never have taken the king’s shilling. No, he served with the Irish Army in the trenches’. In each instance, it was the fact that the relative served in a regiment with the word ‘Irish’ in the title that led to the misunderstanding. But each time when I tried to delicately explain that their relatives had served in Irish regiments of the British Army, and that the Irish Army did not yet exist at the time of the First World War, the mood of the conversation quickly changed).

         Also, I have heard ‘Paddy died dragging two wounded friends through the muck. They were all killed by a shell.’ Now this might be accurate, but I have found in several cases that deaths were often glorified, sometimes by surviving friends from the trenches and, on occasion, by the families themselves, in order to give some purpose to what was invariably a senseless and horrible end to the life of a loved one. This was certainly true in the case of Lieutenant Joseph Clonan – an Irish-Australian. When Clonan died on 10 November 1917, one day before the end of the Third Battle of Ypres, an account of his death soon appeared in the Alma Mater of Clonan’s old school in Sydney, Australia, stating that he rode out ‘at the head of a transport column going up to the lines when a shell burst five yards away, and struck both rider and horse. His men ran to his assistance and propped him up. He opened his eyes for a moment, and smiled at those who were helping him. He died almost immediately, and was buried in a village about ten miles from Armentières.’ The truth was that Joseph Clonan did not die cheerily while urging his men on to glorious victory. A transport officer, Clonan had been ordered to join an infantry company in the front-line trenches – a role he knew nothing about – and so, while in his billet on the morning of 10 November, he put a gun to his head and shot himself. However, witnesses state that he did not die instantly. Clonan lingered on for as long as thirty minutes before finally dying, drenched in his own blood. His family never learned the truth.17

         18What these examples all show is that Irish people have always felt the need to qualify our involvement in the war. The truth is that service in the British Army has been an element of Irish life for centuries. No matter which side you pick, we all fought for English kings at the Boyne; Irish rebels fought Irish regiments in 1798; thousands of us wore the redcoat, and thousands more the khaki uniform of the First World War. It is part of our history, and, until recently, part of our national identity. There are Irish war graves on every continent, and names such as Rita and Ursula are used today in Ireland because Irish soldiers in the British Army brought them back from India in the nineteenth century.

         But while the politics of all these various wars, battles and centuries interest me, what really matters are the lives of the Irishmen who fought, survived, or died in them. So who were they? The answer to that question must include the Ireland they grew up in, the situations that they faced in life, and invariably, the reasons why they enlisted. Their lives were very different from the lives led by Irish people today – many of the men who fought in the First World War came from large families; not finding work often meant that you and perhaps the rest of your family might starve, and they knew poverty and deprivation, the like of which is difficult for us to comprehend.19

         20Dublin is the best example of what Irish urban life was like nearly one hundred years ago. On the one hand, there was the up-and-coming Catholic middle class who, along with the well-established, wealthy Protestants, had been flocking in their thousands out of the inner-city for years to the clean and prosperous suburbs. The Georgian homes that they left behind had become the slums for thousands of destitute Dubliners. These tenements housed 26,000 families, 20,000 of which lived in just one-room accommodation. Henrietta Street was the most infamous street in the capital – in just fifteen houses, there were 835 people struggling to survive. Several generations of several families lived together and the possibility of death was never far away. Even if you were lucky enough to survive infancy, you might die from disease caused by the non-existent sanitation. Tuberculosis, or ‘consumption’ as it was called, was a common killer – doctors would often prescribe milk, eggs and butter to build you up, assuming you could afford these luxuries. Or perhaps, as happened in many cases, your house might literally collapse on top of you from lack of repair.

         Old Dublin, then, was a dying city. Unlike the industrialised northern city of Belfast, Dublin had yet to enter the modern mechanised age. Belfast had the same problem with tenements and slums, but Dublin was more of a hub than a producer, a place where the paperwork was done and a place where things passed through on their way to somewhere else. The cattle boat sailed to Britain seven times a day, eighty times a week from Dublin ports, often carrying as many Irish emigrants as livestock.

         Outside the capital, in the various towns in the various counties, life was no better. Most of the population of the big rural towns survived as unskilled labourers. They started work young, most before they reached their teens, to earn much-needed, but meagre, extra income to supplement the family. The local workhouse was also a common feature throughout the land, and served as hospital, poorhouse, home for the elderly, and mental asylum. Children, when not born at home, were often born in a workhouse ward. Many might then find themselves, years later, forced to enter the workhouse because they had no money, no hopes of finding work, and therefore no chances of surviving outside its walls. Others ended up in the workhouse because they were too old to care for themselves, too sick, or perhaps even dying. Even those with mental 21illnesses were often committed into a workhouse. They truly were horrific places, where men were separated from their wives, and parents from their children.

         Several families I interviewed swore that the huge numbers of Irish priests at the time could be ascribed to the condition of the country in the early 1900s. It was not faith but desperation that drove them to the Church. After all, the priesthood was a great career move – it offered financial security, a fine house, and local respect.

         Meanwhile, in the outlying rural villages, dotted along the periphery of the west coast of Ireland, life was perhaps at its hardest. While the city-dwellers of Belfast toiled in their factories, and the labourers and tradesmen of Dublin and the other southern towns struggled to get by, the farmers of the west of Ireland lived life from year to year, crop to crop. Alcoholism was rife among a population that were never far away from famine and starvation. Emigration was the only option for thousands of Irish people – in Kerry, the population had nearly halved since the end of the Great Famine.

         Life was so desperate in these rural areas and land so vitally important, that it was not unusual for violent and bloody family disputes to erupt over who owned a tiny field, or an even tinier garden where some extra precious crops could be grown. Sometimes, these arguments ended with fathers and sons, or brothers, never speaking to each other ever again. Sometimes, they even ended in murder.

         Of course, this old world was beginning to change. 1914 was a world of empires and monarchs clinging to power and their colonies, and flexing their muscles in the form of massive armies. But it was also a world of revolution. Workers’ Labour parties, women’s suffragettes, and nationalist movements demanded change. Ireland had already seen the Home Rule movement, workers’ strikes and the 1913 Lockout, so there was a sense in the air that a new way of life might be on the way – one where small nations could decide their own destiny, and where ordinary workers would finally have a voice in society. Unfortunately though, for Ireland, not everyone welcomed the change.

         On 11 April 1912, the Third Home Rule Bill had been introduced to the House of Commons. Unlike the previous two bills, the House of Lords could now only postpone it for two years and not veto the bill out of existence. So in 221914, Home Rule would be a reality – it was only a matter of time before Ireland had its own parliament. However, not everyone on the island had been happy at this prospect.

         Ulster unionists believed that if they were subjected to the rule of a southern Irish parliament, they would be facing policies geared towards the more agrarian south. The industrialised north feared economic ruin. Furthermore, southern Ireland was predominantly Catholic, and Ulster Protestants were determined to resist Home Rule, which they often referred to as ‘Rome Rule’. They wanted to avoid becoming a religious minority, and avoid the risk of discrimination. The unionists demanded to remain a part of Britain.

         To ensure that this happened, the Ulster Volunteers were set up to defend unionist ideals and reject Home Rule, by force if necessary. Tens of thousands of men flocked to the organisation and they marched, drilled, and trained all across Ulster. In September 1912, just under a quarter of a million male unionists signed the Ulster Covenant in protest against a southern parliament. Some took the signing of the covenant so seriously that they signed in their own blood.

         The following year, it was southern nationalists’ turn to reply. 1913 had seen the setting up of the Irish Volunteers to defend Home Rule at all costs. However, secretly involved in the organisation was the Irish Republican Brotherhood (IRB), with a motive to create an Irish republic, completely separate from Britain. Like their northern opponents, the Irish Volunteers began training and drilling. However, initial weapon shortages saw columns of men marching with hurls instead of rifles. And while the Ulster Volunteers (or Ulster Volunteer Force – UVF – as they soon became) had no trouble importing arms and ammunition – ironically from Germany – the Irish Volunteers were constantly plagued by supply shortages. Still, they prepared and readied themselves. So by 1914, it looked as though the moment that Home Rule became a reality, civil war would break out in Ireland.

         This then, was the world that the Irishmen who would soon become trench veterans were born into. It was a world of inequality, danger, and suffering – but a world that seemed on the verge of change. Given the aggressive tension that was building up in Europe, the catalyst for this change was only ever going to come in the form of violence. With the European empires having been at 23each other’s throats for decades, war was the only outcome. Each country had been building up its army and its stockpiles of weapons for years. Then, on 28 June 1914, Archduke Franz Ferdinand – heir to the Austro-Hungarian throne – was shot dead in the streets of Sarajevo by a Serbian nationalist named Gavrilo Princip. The Serbian situation was probably one that many Irish of the time could relate to – it was the story of a small country ruled over by an imperial superpower. All of a sudden, alliances between various countries were activated and, soon enough, Britain, France and Russia were at war with Germany and Austria-Hungary. In Ireland, the regular career soldiers were shipped to the battlefields, while, to meet the requirements for this new type of total war, recruitment campaigns were launched throughout the country. Fresh Irishmen were needed to fill the ranks of the expanding British Army. Here, now, it is time to turn to the reasons why these Irishmen enlisted, or, indeed in some cases, re-enlisted.

         Irishmen had always served in the British Army. In the sixteenth century, the Tudor monarchy had acknowledged their Irish soldiers as a hardy and fierce fighting force. During the Peninsular War against Napoleon, thirty percent of Wellington’s army had been Irish. This figure rose steadily over the following decades. By 1831, forty percent of the British Army were Irish. By the 1860s, the number peaked at sixty percent claiming to be either Irish-born or of Irish descent. The number then gradually reduced until by the Boer War, twenty percent of Britain’s fighting men were Irish. By 1914, the British Army numbered 247,000 troops, of whom 20,000 were Irish, with a further 145,000 ex-regular reserves that could be called upon, 30,000 of which were Irish (meaning that in 1914, Irishmen made up twelve percent of the total British Army). Over the centuries, Irish soldiers had developed a reputation for being dependable fighting troops. The Connaught Rangers were nicknamed the ‘Devil’s Own’ because of their hard-fighting spirit. Similarly, the Royal Irish Fusiliers had the motto ‘Faugh-a-Ballagh’. It means ‘clear the way’, and was earned because of their skills as first-strike shock troops.

         The picture of Ireland as it was in 1914 would suggest that the majority of men enlisted to escape the poverty and the general hopelessness of life at home. There are many cases such as that of my great-grandfather Martin Gaffey, who was orphaned young and – according to his daughter Eileen Kavanagh – raised 24by a tyrannical aunt who sent him to work in the fields while still only a boy and took every penny he earned. He enlisted in October 1915 to escape the harsh life of an unskilled labourer in his hometown of Athlone.

         Then there were those like Fred Kelly and Thomas Byrne, who signed up to escape the law. Byrne was from the village of Timahoe in County Laois, and for some misdemeanour that has been lost to time, he was wanted by the law when war broke out. Byrne, seeing the army as his only escape from capture and a prison sentence, enlisted under his mother’s maiden name of Dowling, only to be killed in action in 1915. As for Fred Kelly from Athlone – according to his granddaughter who now resides in New Zealand – he grew up with a terribly abusive father and, when only fifteen years old, during one of his father’s more violent moments, Fred produced an axe and nearly killed his father on the spot. He then turned and walked out of the family home, never to return. A few years later, Fred found himself in an English jail for killing a man. He then went on 25to enlist upon the outbreak of war, and ultimately survive the conflict. Unable to return home to Ireland, and not exactly wanted in England either, Fred chose to emigrate to America, where he married a local girl. But, breaking with marriage tradition, Fred Kelly took his wife’s maiden name in order to leave his past behind.

         However, there were numerous reasons why Irishmen joined up for the khaki uniform. For some, although this only really applies to those who enlisted pre-war, the army offered some attractive perks. A single man might travel to India. He would be expected to remain there for several years at a time, but while there, even a private soldier might have an Indian manservant. Besides this, a married man could bring his wife and children out to India and start a new life in an exotic land, far away from the drudgery of Ireland.

         There was also the wage and job security, and the army pension. Some men, faced with learning a trade or joining the army, simply weighed up their options and made the decision based on what was the best career move. For others, especially in the garrison towns such as Athlone, Birr, Castlebar, Cork, Drogheda, Mullingar, Naas, Newbridge, Templemore, Tipperary, and Dublin (to name but a few), family tradition played a large role in a young man’s decision. If his father or grandfather had been a soldier, he might be expected, or indeed might want to continue the custom. The outbreak of war against Germany simply gave many men like this the extra nudge they needed to walk in the barrack gate.

         Some, of course, joined for purely political reasons. There were those who were disgusted by Germany’s invasion of small, Catholic Belgium – men who felt it was their duty to stand up and teach Fritz a lesson. Others, Catholic and Protestant, felt that they simply had to play their part for King and Country, and that being a British citizen meant answering the call when it was asked of them. But most of the Irishmen who went to war for political reasons were members of either the Ulster Volunteer Force or the Irish Volunteers. The UVF wanted to show its rock-solid determination to stay a part of the union, and knew that fighting for Britain would certainly strengthen their case. As for the Irish Volunteers, who numbered around 190,000 at the start of the war, they suffered a great disappointment on 18 September 1914 when, after Home Rule was granted to Ireland by royal assent, its implementation was 26immediately postponed until the end of the war (or for one year if the war turned out to be short). Therefore, the Irish Volunteers still had Home Rule to protect. They felt that to prove their worthiness of Home Rule, they had to fight alongside Britain in the war – to basically show critics in England that if Ireland was granted Home Rule, it was not going to turn into a fiercely anti-British country. It would still come to Britain’s aid if need be (Surprisingly, the south ended up surpassing the north in terms of initial recruitment figures. As noted by Philip Orr in his book The Road to the Somme, the historian Alice Stopford Green discovered from a Viceroy’s report of 14 January 1916 that, as of that date, ‘1.36 percent of the population had volunteered in counties Antrim and Down … whereas 1.7 percent had done so in Kilkenny, Tipperary, Waterford and Wexford.’).

         However, not every man in the Irish Volunteers agreed with fighting this new war. The organisation split, and while 180,000 renamed themselves the Irish National Volunteers with many marching off to the recruiting stations, the 27remaining 10,000 refused to fight for the British flag. They kept their old name, the Irish Volunteers, and being heavily influenced by the Irish Republican Brotherhood, this breakaway movement started to plan a war of their own. Ultimately, this would become the Easter Rising of 1916.

         Then there were the downright ordinary reasons why some Irishmen enlisted. Some naively saw war as just a great adventure, or were simply bored with their monotonous life in Ireland. Working day in day out, perhaps as clerks in dreary offices, and raised on stories of glorious battles of past conflicts, they had no idea of the horrors that awaited them in the trenches. Some were swayed by contemporary propaganda, depicting the Germans as stupid gorilla-like brutes who did not know which way to point a rifle. It was also widely believed that the war could not possibly last beyond Christmas 1914, and that any man who did not sign up and fight in time would be looked down upon when the glorious heroes returned.

         Lastly, there were those who were forced to go by peer pressure. Patrick Hickson was one such man. He lived on Adelaide Terrace, just off the South Circular Road in Dublin, and worked as a compositor for Lecky, Brown and Nolan printing firm. The only son out of eleven children, he was a good-humoured, 28outgoing man who could always be found whistling or singing cheerily. The family were firm British supporters, but when the war broke out, Patrick did not see it as his duty to go. However, his twin sister thought otherwise, and hounded him, insulting him with lines such as, ‘If I was a man, I’d go. If you were a real man, you’d go,’ until Patrick finally enlisted into the Royal Field Artillery. He was wounded at Ypres, survived the war, but ultimately suffered from shellshock for the rest of his life, which was, unfortunately, filled with hardships. He retreated into himself after the war – his former cheeriness gone – and married an aggressive schoolteacher in the 1920s who was always ‘giving out’ with a ‘loud, fattish voice’, according to Patrick’s niece. Later, Patrick Hickson also had to suffer the death of his only son when aged six.

         This then, was the world and the reasons which brought Irishmen to the trenches. What they endured and suffered there was beyond anything they could have imagined. Even Irish veterans of previous wars – such as the Boer War – could not possibly have known what the First World War would bring. Britain’s previous wars had been colonial ones, where small expeditionary armies manoeuvred across wide tracts of land. This war was a sit-tight, stay-alive, mass-slaughter war on a gigantic scale. The men of Ireland who entered the trenches were to experience a living nightmare.

         This book is not an attempt to tell the geo-political story of the First World War with a sprinkling of the individual anecdotal stories of Irishmen thrown in. The main focus of this book is the stories of forgotten Irish soldiers, and as such, this book is not a traditional military history text – the movements of corps and divisions and the tactics and strategy of generals are not my prime concern, and so the wider history of the war, where mentioned, is included only to give necessary background information.

         These Irish soldiers were not traitors; they were not fools. It does not matter if they were nationalist or unionist, pauper or career soldier. They were all human beings and deserve to be remembered. What they went through can be difficult to understand – but it should never be forgotten. This is their story.

         May God have mercy on their souls.29
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            ‘Even to Jimmie’s inexperienced eyes the battalion had changed since he had left it. The men were weary, but the raw soldiers had been tested in battle and seemed to him to have gained the self-confidence of veterans.’

            Captain Edward King, 6th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers, in his memoir Haphazard

         

         From the initial phase of the First World War onwards Irishmen played a significant role; one of the first New Army divisions of citizen volunteers to go into action was Irish; on the Somme, it was Irishmen that made the most remarkable achievements on the first day of battle; and as the war dragged on, the Irish divisions often suffered most at the hands of the enemy. Time and time again, the Irish were at the forefront of the war and earned their place in the history books. Irishmen were even some of the first to die in the war. On 6 August 1914 – barely two days after the start of the conflict – twenty-five year old Signalman Joseph Pierce Murphy of Thorncastle Place, Ringsend, Dublin and thirty-nine year old Petty Officer Second Class Joseph Lynch from Ringaskiddy, County Cork were killed when their ship, HMS Amphion, hit a mine in the North Sea. Today, both men are commemorated on the Plymouth Naval Memorial.32

         THE FIRST SHOT

         4TH ROYAL IRISH DRAGOON GUARDS

         When Britain declared war on Germany on 4 August 1914, it began to mobilise an expeditionary army to send to the Continent, to aid France and Belgium. Initially, the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) was comprised of 33approximately 86,000 officers and men and, within days of war being declared, the first waves began landing in France. Among them were Irish units such as 1st (Battalion) Irish Guards, 2nd Royal Munster Fusiliers, 2nd Connaught Rangers, 2nd Royal Irish Regiment, and 2nd Royal Irish Rifles. There were also Irish cavalry units, such as elements of the North Irish Horse, South Irish Horse and the 4th Royal Irish Dragoon Guards. The BEF immediately began marching towards the German Army in Belgium.

         By 22 August, the BEF was entrenched in the little Belgian town of Mons, and at 7am that morning to the north of Mons, C Squadron of the 4th Royal Irish Dragoon Guards was on patrol. It was dawn, and the two armies of the British and German empires had yet to encounter one another. The Germans had steamrolled through most of Belgium already on their way towards France, and the British knew that the Germans were heading straight towards them. Therefore, they had decided to make a stand at Mons, and had sent out patrols such as C Squadron, to give them advance warning of the German approach.

         As the patrol neared the village of Casteau, they spotted four enemy cavalrymen belonging to the German 2nd Kuirassiers. Realising that they had encountered the enemy, the Germans turned and fled. Major Thomas Bridges quickly ordered the men of C Squadron to open fire, and when the first bullet whizzed through the air, it came from the rifle of Private Edward Thomas of 4th Troop. Thomas had originally enlisted as a drummer into the Royal Horse Artillery. Now, however, he had just gone down in history as the first British soldier of the First World War to fire at the enemy. It is uncertain whether or not he killed or just wounded the German, but Captain Charles Beck Hornby of 1st Troop then led a charge after the enemy. Hornby killed several German soldiers, using his officer’s sword and returned later in the day, the blade red with 34German blood. Edward Thomas would go on to win the Military Medal for bravery and reach the rank of sergeant, before transferring into the Machine Gun Corps in 1916. He ultimately survived the war, served a few more years with his old regiment – the 4th Royal Irish Dragoon Guards – and was then discharged in 1923.

         And so, the two enemies had encountered one another. It would only be a matter of time before they came face to face in battle.

         THE FIRST VICTORIA CROSS

         MAURICE DEASE

         Entrenched in Mons that same day was Lieutenant Maurice Dease. Dease was an Irishman from Gaulstown – situated about halfway between Coole and Castlepollard – in County Westmeath. He was twenty-four years old, and his father, Edmund Fitzlaurence Dease, was a land agent and former justice of the peace. Serving with the 4th Royal Fusiliers, Dease, like Private Edward Thomas, was another of the veteran Irishmen who constituted the original BEF – the men who had been sent to the continent immediately after the outbreak of war.

         On 22 August, the 4th Royal Fusiliers were positioned at Nimy, just north of Mons, where they were tasked with guarding two crossings on the Mons canal – a railway bridge and a road-swing bridge. The German Army needed these crossings and others like them to press on into France and so the BEF knew that they must be defended at all costs. According to the battalion war diary, orders were simple: ‘Had orders to hold on to this position as long as possible.’ So the men dug hasty trenches and rifle pits for protection, and Lieutenant Dease set up his machine-gun detachment of two guns to cover the crossing. According to Max Arthur in Symbols of Courage, ‘Dease got flour sacks from the local mill and filled them with shingle to protect his guns on either side of the bridge, and they worked into the night, all the time hearing the sounds of the Germans moving in the woods to the north of the canal.’

         The next morning, an enemy aircraft flew overhead, followed by a German cavalry patrol which tried to approach the bridge but was fired upon. Then, at around 9am, all along the British line, the Germans descended on the canal crossings. Dease ordered his gunners to open fire while British riflemen let loose with rapid fire – the ‘mad minute’ of at least fifteen aimed rounds in sixty seconds. The fire was so murderous that the more inexperienced German units actually believed that they were solely on the receiving end of machine guns. The enemy were held back, but then German shells started falling amongst the British, and with very few artillery guns with which to return fire, the British soldiers were forced to suffer the enemy bombardment and simply wait it out. When it finally ended, around 11am, the enemy infantry advanced again.35

         Defending Nimy railway bridge, C Company of the 4th Royal Fusiliers – which included Lieutenant Maurice Dease – was suddenly faced with, as the war diary records: ‘at least four battalions of [enemy] infantry, also cavalry and artillery. We suffered severely on the bridges over the canal by rifle and artillery fire.’ Dease’s left-side machine gun was soon knocked out by the enemy and, as Max Arthur states, ‘the machine-gunners, under constant fire, were killed and wounded in such numbers that bodies had to be moved aside so that 37replacement gunners could take their place.’

         Dease had been fifty yards to the rear of the bridge up to this point, directing fire, but when he saw a break in the enemy fire, he dashed forward. Reaching the silenced left-side machine gun, he was hit in the leg by the enemy. A superior officer insisted that Dease withdraw to have the wound tended to, but the young officer refused and began crawling across the line of fire to his second gun. On the way, he was shot in the side but still refused to withdraw. He made his way back to his only working gun on the right-side of the bridge, and was shot for a third time.

         Dease was soon personally manning this machine gun, as all the rest of its crew had either been killed or wounded, but he was in a terribly exposed position. The right-side gun was positioned on top of an embankment, and the Germans pounded him with rifle, machine-gun and artillery fire. He was shot a fourth time, and then a fifth – around 3.30pm – after which he finally collapsed, unable to continue. It was now obvious that the Mons canal could not be defended, and the BEF command sent orders to begin a withdrawal. Private Sidney Godley volunteered to rush out under enemy fire, to get the gun working again, in order to cover the retreat of 4th Royal Fusiliers, but he was ultimately wounded and taken prisoner by the Germans.

         One month later, a telegram, dated 22 September 1914, arrived to Lieutenant 38Dease’s father at his home in Drumree, just outside Dunshaughlin in County Meath, informing him that ‘Lieut. M.J. Dease Royal Fusiliers has been dangerously wounded.’ This telegram was followed by another, four days later, which stated that ‘Lieut. M.J. Dease Royal Fusiliers is now reported killed in action. Lord Kitchener expresses his sympathy.’ However, on 30 September 1914, a third telegram arrived, its contents casting doubt on the previous one. ‘Lieut. M.J. Dease Royal Fusiliers reported killed Sept 5th is now (Sept 12) reported to be wounded and missing. Both reports from O.C. Battalion.’ It must have been a difficult time for Dease’s family, not knowing whether Maurice was alive or dead.

         The truth was that Maurice Dease from Westmeath had died not long after being relieved by Private Godley. Obviously having tried to 39crawl away from the machine gun in a final search for medical assistance, he was found draped across the nearby railway lines and taken to a dressing station where he died soon after arriving. He was twenty-four years old and was soon awarded the first Victoria Cross of the First World War. His citation, which later appeared in the London Gazette (16 November 1914), read ‘Though two or three times badly wounded he continued to control the fire of his machine guns at Mons on 23 August until all his men were shot. He died of his wounds.’ Private Sidney Godley, the man who relieved him, was awarded the second VC for his bravery.

         Today, Dease’s body lies in St Symphorien Military Cemetery, close to where he died.

         THE WESTERN FRONT

         Four days before the Battle of Mons, the German Kaiser, Wilhelm II, had issued an ‘Order of the Day’, stating that ‘It is my Royal and Imperial Command that you concentrate your energies for the immediate present upon one single purpose, and that is that you address all your skill and all the valour of my soldiers to exterminate first the treacherous English [and] walk over General [Sir John] French’s contemptible little army.’ He had actually referred to the BEF as a ‘contemptibly’ little army – insulting their size – but the word had been wrongly reported as ‘contemptible’. Now, as far as the British were concerned, their ‘contemptible’ army had shown what it could do, and they adopted the name as a badge of honour. From then on, the British soldiers who had fought in the first battles of the First World War would be forever known as the ‘Old Contemptibles.’

         At Mons, the British were ultimately forced back in the face of superior German firepower. They had suffered 1,600 killed or wounded, and had inflicted an estimated 5,000 casualties on the Germans. This was due to the high level of skill and experience in the BEF – most of its soldiers had learned their trade over many years in places such as India, Burma, or Malta, and some were even veterans of the Boer War. They were the furthest thing from raw recruits.

         However, there was simply not enough of them to repel the massive German 40Army, and in France and Belgium along the Western Front, the next few weeks saw the Germans fight to within a few miles of Paris. Then, when the war seemed all but lost, a gap in the German line was exploited and a renewed Allied offensive miraculously pushed the Germans all the way back to a defensive line on the Chemin des Dames Ridge along the River Aisne. Here, the Germans dug in, and no matter how hard they tried, the British could not breach the enemy defences. So they too dug in, and before long, parallel lines of Allied and German trenches stretched from the Belgian coast to the borders with Switzerland. Trench warfare had begun.

         The British soon found themselves centred on the crumbling Belgian town of Ypres. They launched a renewed offensive against the Germans, hoping to break through before the enemy became too firmly entrenched in this latest position. But the offensive failed, only ending when the winter snows arrived in late 1914, costing the British 58,000 casualties, the French 50,000, while the Germans suffered 130,000 killed and wounded. So, with a state of deadlock existing on the Western Front, the Allies turned their attention to new battlefields.

         GALLIPOLI

         Turkey, Germany’s ally, was considered a good target. If the Allies could force their way through the Dardanelles – a narrow strip of water separating European Turkey from Asiatic Turkey – they would have a route from the Aegean into the Black Sea, and this would allow the western Allies to link up with Russia and surround Germany on all sides. But after forts along the Dardanelles coastline prevented the British Navy from reaching the Turkish capital of Constantinople, it was decided to send in the infantry to capture the forts by land. That way, once the forts were neutralised, the navy could sail up the Dardanelles unopposed.

         The place selected for the infantry attack was a peninsula of chalk and sandstone hills separated by steep ravines; a place of rock, dust, heat and scrub. Its name would soon become synonymous with the struggling and sacrifice of Irishmen.41

         THE INITIAL LANDINGS

         JAMES CLIFFORD

         On 25 April 1915, the infantry attack was launched. Five beaches on the Turkish peninsula of Gallipoli would be assaulted simultaneously, in order to gain footholds for further advances inland. On four of the five beaches, the attacks would follow the standard plan for amphibious landings – men would row ashore in small boats and leap into action – but on the fifth beach, a new plan would be tried out. In had been inspired by the fact that the ruins of Troy were not far away – where the Greeks had used their famous Trojan horse to trick their way inside the city walls. At V Beach, the British generals of the First World War had decided to use a modern Trojan horse against their Turkish enemies. And the soldiers selected for this bold plan were the Irishmen of the 29th Division.

         At 6am, the preliminary naval bombardment of V Beach ceased, and towards the shore sailed the SS River Clyde, an old collier ship converted into an armoured landing craft. The idea was to literally beach the ship, open its doors, and have infantry flood out to capture the beachhead, beside which was the 42ancient Turkish fort of Sedd-el-Bahr. In the River Clyde that day was Private James Clifford of the 1st Royal Munster Fusiliers. A regular soldier, Clifford was from Killarney, County Kerry, and had joined the army in 1910 having lied about his age – he was only seventeen at the time. He was now twenty-two and currently serving as a batman to an officer.

         On board the River Clyde and fast approaching the Turkish peninsula, Clifford got ready to disembark. It was clear that the ship was too large to make it all the way to dry land. When it beached itself, it would still be surrounded by deep water. For this reason, a smaller steamship – the Argyll – was to beach itself in front of the River Clyde, to make a bridge to shore. To cover this manoeuvre, Irishmen of the 1st Royal Dublin Fusiliers were to row ashore in lighters ahead of the River Clyde landing. Clifford waited anxiously as the ship neared the land.

         43As the Dublin men landed in their boats, Turkish machine guns at either end of the beach and in Sedd-el-Bahr fort opened up, raking the beach with enfilading fire. The Irishmen were caught out in the open and were gunned down. Survivors scrambled to a low sandbank which gave them just enough cover from the enemy, but within a few minutes, over fifty percent of the 700 men who had just landed were dead.

         Inside the River Clyde, bullets started pinging and ricocheting off the hull. V Beach was defended by only a handful of Turks, but they were determined to keep the British from gaining a foothold on Gallipoli. The River Clyde shuddered and ground to a halt as its keel got stuck in the sand. However, the Argyll failed to finish the bridge to land, and so the captain of the River Clyde was forced to gather some sailors and try and build a bridge out of lighters. Machine-gun bullets raked the water as the navy men tried desperately to lash the boats together.

         The ship’s doors opened and the infantry assault was launched. Two companies of Royal Munster Fusiliers ran out on deck, heading for the gangways down to the lighters. But since the doorways out of the hold were tiny and few, the enemy gunners had easy targets. Munster men were cut down as they poured out of the doorways. Bodies had to be pushed and kicked aside as men continued in their frantic efforts to reach the lighters and the bridge to shore.

         James Clifford took his turn to run the gauntlet. He sped out of the bowels of the ship and raced down the gangway, leaping over his fallen comrades. Clifford was a good swimmer and as bullets were splashing into the sea all around him, he dived into the water to get to shore. Along the way, he passed a lighter with two navy men sitting in it. One man had his kneecap torn open by enemy fire, and the two begged Clifford for help. ‘For Christ’s sake,’ they pleaded. ‘Help us.’ As Bart Clifford – James Clifford’s son – would later recount, all that James Clifford could do was to push the lighter out to sea and away from the gunfire.44

         Clifford managed to make it to shore but was shot in the leg in the process. He joined his Dublin comrades and together they huddled behind the sandbank. Then, two and half hours later, at 8.30am, the order was given to try again. Men of the 2nd Royal Hampshire Regiment, who had also been in the River Clyde, tried desperately to get to shore but were slaughtered in the process.

         After this final attempt to storm ashore, out of the 2,000 men who had taken part in the attack, only 200 were on the beach, and these men were effectively trapped behind the sandbank. Seventy percent of the two companies of Royal Munster Fusiliers who had charged out of the River Clyde had fallen. From where he lay, James Clifford looked out to sea and could not believe his eyes. The water around the River Clyde was literally red – red with blood.

         V Beach was finally secured the following day after bitter fighting. For Private James Clifford, the same day he entered the war was the same day he was wounded. He was evacuated to a hospital ship, and when he was fit to serve again, Clifford was posted to the Western Front. Then, while serving in the Loos sector in 1916, a lump of shrapnel sliced his arm nearly clean off, and with the limb dangling from a sinew and while completely in shock, Clifford stumbled to a dressing station. His son, Bart Clifford, remembers the story. ‘Along the way, my dad came across a man who he thought was a priest. “Father,” he asked, “Could you spare me a cigarette?” The man looked round and turned out to be a Protestant minister. He said, “I’m not of your flock, but you can certainly have a cigarette.”’ After receiving medical treatment, Clifford’s arm was ultimately amputated.

         This was enough to get Clifford sent back to his native Killarney, and, seeing as he was friendly with a colonel who was one of the Earls of Kenmare, he managed to get work caddying on the Kerry golf courses. In fact, James Clifford had once been a very good golfer.

         However, years later, when the family home was inherited by Clifford’s elder brother, and when this brother married a fiercely nationalistic woman, Clifford was no longer allowed to speak of his First World War experiences. Worse still, his new sister-in-law binned his war medals, along with all keepsakes that the former soldier had to remind him of his days in uniform.

         Back in Gallipoli in 1915, after the lukewarm successes of the initial landings, 45the fighting on the Turkish peninsula quickly started to mirror the Western Front. Soon enough, Gallipoli was a mess of trenches, barbed-wire defences and machine-gun emplacements. As in France and Belgium, there was no movement or swift advances – only stalemate and stagnation.

         The Turks turned out to be a dogged and determined enemy who were passionate in the defence of their homeland. Initially, they became infamous for launching suicidal bayonet charges towards Allied lines, screaming ‘Allah! Allah!’ as they rushed forward in their droves only to be mown down by British or Australian/New Zealand Army Corps (ANZAC) fire. Later, however, as the campaign dragged on – after Allied soldiers started meeting face to face with Turkish soldiers through the odd regional truce or through the latter being taken prisoner – soldiers realised that the Turks were the same as they were. They were men with families, who would rather be with their loved ones than 46fighting and killing. They were, towards the end of the campaign, fondly referred to as ‘Johnny Turk’, but in the opening days of Gallipoli, they were seen as a fanatical enemy to be feared and defeated.

         THE FIRST VOLUNTEERS

         EDWARD KING

         After the initial landings at sites such as V Beach, it was decided that new troops and new divisions were needed if there was to be any hope of pressing inland. The regular soldiers of pre-August 1914 were mostly dead or wounded. These were the veteran men of many years’ experience, but Britain needed new troops to continue the fight. It was time to call on the men of the New Army units, Kitchener’s volunteers who had signed up for service at the outbreak of war. It is true that some units had been formed out of men from the same background, 47such as the ‘Dublin Pals’ – volunteers who formed D Company, 7th Royal Dublin Fusiliers, and who were mostly professional graduates who had refused officer’s commissions, many of whom were talented rugby players and IRFU members – but in many of these volunteer formations, men of all classes, professions, religions and political opinions from up and down the social hierarchy served together.

         By summer 1915, they had been training for several months, drilling, marching, parading, shooting, learning to dig trenches and prepare defensive positions, but they had never seen combat. They were eager and enthusiastic – full of patriotism, the spirit of adventure, or the desire to get away from their home for whatever reason – but they had a severe lack of experience. For most of these men, war was a concept, an ideal, far removed from the blood-and-filth reality of the trenches. Furthermore, there was criticism that these New Army units had not been adequately trained, so while these volunteers had no idea of what they would face at the front, they had also not been fully provided with the skills to survive.

         The first New Army division, the 9th (Scottish) Division, was detailed for the Western Front, but the next one, the 10th (Irish) Division, was ordered to make ready for Gallipoli. This unit was an historic first as never before had a British division contained the name ‘Irish’, and never before had such a mass of Irish troops been gathered into a single fighting formation. Made up of ‘Service’ battalions that had been created for the duration of the war, the 10th (Irish) Division was comprised of men from all across the island of Ireland. They were one of the first batches of First World War volunteers to go into action anywhere.

         One such citizen-turned-soldier in the 10th (Irish) Division was Edward King. He ultimately survived the war, and in later life wrote a memoir entitled Haphazard, detailing the significant events in his life. Regarding his beginnings, King wrote that ‘Munterconnaught Rectory, where I was born in August 1894, was a small white house on a knoll overlooking Lough Ramor near the southern border of County Cavan.’ King’s father was the Church of Ireland Reverend Albert Edward King, later the Dean of Kilmore, and the family had come to Ireland in the 1600s, but Edward’s father hated being referred to as Anglo-Irish. ‘Nothing annoyed him more than to hear Protestant families like ours referred to as West Britons or Anglo-Irish. “Ireland has been our 48homeland for hundreds of years,” he would declare. “Creed and politics do not affect nationality. Does anyone suggest that Dean Swift, WB Yeats or George Bernard Shaw were not as Irish as James Joyce?”’ As far as Edward’s father was concerned, Ireland was his home, as it had been the home of his father and his father before him. The family were Irish, and that was that.

         Edward had two younger siblings, Marjory and Richard, and not far from his childhood house was the old home of the Sheridan family. It was in this building that Dean Swift was reputed to have written part of Gulliver’s Travels. Literary influences seemed to have surrounded the young Edward, and when his family moved to Kildallon near Killeshandra in 1899 – the only town around for miles, which had the ‘nearest doctor, railway station and public houses (only nineteen of them – all too few on a thirsty market day)’ – King was not far from Ardlougher, where Edgar Allan Poe’s ancestors were said to have lived before moving to the New World. Pat McLoughlin, a local man, was known throughout the land as a powerful story-teller and used to entertain Edward for hours with his yarns, but, ‘unlike a retired naval petty-officer who lived nearby, [Pat] never interrupted a yarn to teach me arms-drill with a broom handle until my back ached.’

         King also grew up with military stories from a young age. He always remembered that one of the Sheridans – Philip, born in 1830 – had emigrated to America and rose to become Commander-in-Chief of the United States Army, and he also once met an old army pensioner with an interesting past. ‘It was not given to every boy to hear the story of the charge of the Heavy Brigade at Balaclava from the lips of one who, as a young trooper in the Dragoon Guards, had ridden against the Russian guns, in 1855, to save the remnants of the Light Brigade immortalised by Tennyson.’49

         Years after, Edward King entered a new phase of his life, later remembering that ‘In winter, cold, chapped hands, chilblains and, at all times, hunger and claustrophobia were part of our daily existence. The infirmary was seldom empty.’ This had nothing to do with the war however; this was King’s experience of school. He was educated in King’s Hospital School in Dublin, a place that he hated, feeling that school only ‘stifled imagination and bred mediocrity … There was a grimness about the School as I knew it to match the grey walls that shut us in.’ However, he was very close to Royal Barracks (now Collins Barracks Museum), where he would later serve.

         According to King, ‘One of my most vivid memories [from school] is of gazing from the window of No. 1 Dormitory across the football ground and in the Officers’ Mess of the Royal Barracks, glimpsing the blue and scarlet and gold of the uniforms and listening to the strains of waltz tunes played by the band. To the callow lad it seemed another world. It never crossed my mind that 51the day would soon come when as a newly-fledged subaltern I would join my regiment in those self-same barracks, though wearing the khaki of war-time and in surroundings totally divested of the colour and glamour of pre-war years.’

         In 1913, Edward left King’s Hospital and entered Trinity College, where he studied classics and history, perhaps inspired by the literary surroundings of his youth. Then in 1914, the war came.

         Because King had been a university student, he was considered a prime candidate for a commission. He applied to become an officer in the army and was successful. Soon enough, twenty-year-old Edward King found himself serving with the 6th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers, which had been formed at Omagh in August 1914. He was soon promoted from second-lieutenant to lieutenant and in April 1915, along with his battalion, he departed the Curragh for Basingstoke to join the rest of 10th (Irish) Division in preparation for deployment. On 8 July, the division sailed for war, with the bulk of the division assembling on the Greek island of Lemnos in advance of landing on Gallipoli. However, in the case of Edward King, his battalion – the 6th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers – went into bivouac on the island of Mitylene. King was left alone in command of a small detachment on Lemnos.

         In reference to the period starting with July 1915, while ‘stranded’ on Lemnos away from the rest of his battalion, until the end of the Gallipoli campaign, King strangely changed the way he wrote Haphazard. Instead of writing in the first person, as he had done up to this point, and to which he would return afterwards, Edward wrote the Gallipoli sections of his memoir in the third person and referred to himself as ‘Jimmie Todd’, as though he was a character in a novel. It is unusual, but perhaps this was an unconscious move by King to distance himself from the war?

         King’s classical education certainly enhanced his appreciation for Lemnos, and he recalled, ‘with some amusement, the story of the mythical Argonauts who landed at Lemnos during their search for the Golden Fleece. The women of the island had murdered all the men in revenge for some ill-treatment. They were delighted by the arrival of Jason and his crew and received them with open arms. When the Argonauts resumed their voyage a year later, Lemnos was well on its way to being re-populated …’52

         Unfortunately for Edward King and his fellow Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers, however, the local villages were off-limits to soldiers. As King was aware, ‘there must have been young women on the island, but they were kept at a safe distance from the soldiery, leaving only aged crones, well protected by voluminous garments, to sell water-melons, tomatoes and tiny eggs to soldiers tired of rice, bully beef, and army biscuits.’

         However, King’s classical appreciation did nothing to help him cope with the difficulties of life on Lemnos. ‘On the shore was a vast encampment of tents and bivouacs, swarming with troops and resembling a gigantic colony of ants. Working-parties were the order of the day. There were no pioneer corps or gangs of stevedores equipped with proper tackle for the shifting of munitions and stores from ship to shore or onto lighters. At Mudros all this had to be done by the manual labour of unskilled soldiers, working under a blazing sun and on 53a meagre ration of tepid water brought from Egypt because, in summer, Lemnos was parched and almost waterless.’ Edward recalled ‘Homer’s description of the succulent flesh of Lemnos’ tall-horned cattle. In July 1915 Mudros was unable to provide a canteen or even a Greek shop where a bottle of beer, much less a beef-steak, might be found.’

         Dust and flies were everywhere, and most soldiers looked forward to having enough time to dive into the crystal blue sea, but then, ‘even a bathe had its drawbacks for the shore was infested by some marine creature which left a legacy of festering sores where its sharp spines had pierced the bather’s feet.’

         By this point, the war was nearly a year old, and the men knew that the earlier landings on Gallipoli by battalions of regular soldiers had met with stiff Turkish resistance. Gallipoli was the Western Front all over again, though it had the added difficulties of unbearable heat, dysentery, raging thirst, bush fires, grit and sand that got into everything, swarms and swarms of flies like men had never seen before, and an enemy that would not be easily beaten.

         54On the lighter side, Edward King was responsible for censoring his men’s mail, and although he did not enjoy invading the privacy of his troops, he found it could be a humorous task. ‘Fusilier McHugh wrote vivid accounts of the battles in which he had claimed to have played a hero’s part; his wife must have been impressed when she read them, for she could not know that his only battles hitherto had been with the Military Police! But it was Corporal Coles who gave the reluctant censor most of his smiles: a fireman on the railway in civil life, Coles was something of a Casanova, judging by the passionate letters with which he stoked the fires of love in half a dozen girls at home; he had no favourites – each letter was a copy of the others – but there was no chance of comparing notes because the addresses were as far apart as Glasgow, London and Crewe.’

         Then, on 7 August 1915, the bulk of 10th (Irish) Division sailed to Gallipoli, landing at Suvla Bay in the north of the peninsula. But Lieutenant Edward King did not join them straight away. Finally, though, the orders came, and King and his detachment packed up their kit on Lemnos and ‘climbed aboard a former Thames pleasure-steamer for their voyage of sixty miles.’

         On the journey, Edward King noticed that his canvas valise, along with everything inside – everything he owned except what he had on his person – had disappeared, another victim of the army scroungers.

         The ship steamed on and ‘soon there appeared on the horizon a long line of hills, like a dark purple smudge beneath the azure sky from which the sun blazed down almost perpendicularly … eyes began to distinguish sandy beaches and little knolls, with a background of ridges cleft by gullies and sparsely covered with trees and scrub. It was rugged, inhospitable country. It was the Peninsula at last.’

         Edward King landed at Suvla on 12 August 1915 with shrapnel shells bursting in the distance over the inland ridges. His men ‘scrambled ashore, hastened on their way by taciturn naval ratings, under the command of a midshipman who looked about fourteen and had the wealth of language of the admiral that he doubtless became if he survived the war.’

         The beach was a hive of activity. ‘Working-parties, stripped to the waist, sweated under the hot sun; stores, ammunition and guns were being manhandled ashore from landing-craft of various shapes and sizes; scores of men were bathing; an officer was supervising the roofing of a dug-out by a squad of 55sappers; long lines of men, draped with strings of water-bottles or carrying camp kettles, patiently waited their turn at the hoses which stretched like the tentacles of an octopus from a floating water tank.

         ‘The only discordant notes in a peaceful scene, the only indications that this was not part of a training exercise, were the occasional whine of an approaching shell, momentarily halting every activity, and the processions of stretcher-bearers carrying wounded men down to the beach on their way to the hospital ship lying out in the Bay.’

         In the few days since the Irishmen of the 10th (Irish) Division had landed at Suvla Bay, they had already seen some tough, bitter fighting. Many had been killed in the initial struggles to press inland, and for the wounded, even reaching the hospital ship did not guarantee survival. Hospital ships were often grossly understaffed, with too few doctors to treat far too many casualties, and in such confined, humid conditions, if the wound did not kill you, a subsequent infection might.56

         On 13 August, Lieutenant Edward King’s detachment was guided towards the front. To the east of Suvla Bay was a dried-up salt lake, but to the north was a crescent of hills that made up the Kiretch Tepe Sirt Ridge – now the front line. The westernmost region of this ridgeline was the Karakol Dagh, and it was up the Karakol Dagh that Edward King was led along with his men. ‘On the way Jimmie [Edward King] smelled for the first time the sickly stench of corruption that pervades a battle-field. It was seldom out of his nostrils for many days to come. “Smell of dead Boer,” muttered an old soldier, pausing for a moment to ease his shoulders from his heavy pack. “Smell of some mother’s son,” was Sergeant Moran’s dry retort.’ Then, ‘in a hollow among the rock,’ the detachment was reunited with the rest of 6th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers.

         The battalion had already been involved in the assaults on Chocolate Hill and Green Hill, and, suffering from exhaustion, caused by a tiring march through sandy expanses, intense thirst, and hindered by constant enemy shrapnel shelling, they had also managed to help secure a part of the Keretch Tepe Sirt Ridge east of the Karakol Dagh. They were already becoming painfully familiar with land mines and vigilant enemy snipers, and in just five days since landing, the battalion had lost a third of its men. Scimitar Hill had been stormed on 11 August, but in the organisational nightmare that was Gallipoli – the troops were ordered to withdraw back to Suvla after securing their objective.

         Edward King frequently heard older soldiers – the few veterans that had been attached to the New Army divisions – grumbling about what should have been done but had not, the positions that should have been reached, the initial inland push that should have been made, the supplies that should have been provided. These veterans of the South African campaigns knew that smaller strike parties, like the flying columns employed by the Boers, could have captured the high ground and driven the Turks back. They lamented the fact that the enemy still overlooked their positions, dominating the ridges, while their generals poured more and more inadequately supplied men onto a desolate beachhead, which only created more problems and a demand for ammunition and water. At this rate, the British would be too busy trying to sort themselves out to organise an attack, and when the Turks inevitably counter-attacked in order to drive them into the sea, there were fears that they might even succeed.

         Men were soon being picked off by snipers. On the subject, King once heard 57a major from another Irish regiment remark to a Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers captain: ‘The Turk is a damned good fighter. His snipers are everywhere, even behind our lines. This morning two of my best sergeants were killed while at the latrine. We got the chap that did it – hidden up a tree. He looked so young that we thought it was a girl, but our Doctor says he was a male, and he ought to know the difference, even if the rest of us have forgotten.’ With snipers, you had to be extremely cautious just walking about. If your head appeared for even an instant in the wrong place, or you looked around the corner at a given mound, it might be the last thing you ever did.

         Edward King’s account of Gallipoli makes it clear that the Turks knew where the Irishmen were weak. They knew exactly how to beat the invader, and it did not involve bombs, bullets, or shells – it involved water. More often than not, ‘the wells which the Staff had expected to find were either non-existent or had been destroyed [ie poisoned] by the Turks as they retreated back on to the hills. On that sun-scorched terrain the scanty supplies of water that could be landed from tankers were utterly inadequate for the needs of such a large force of thirst-racked men.’

         Men were driven out of their minds with the thirst, and, although the Turks did render many wells unusable, others were soon made foul by the Irishmen themselves, although not on purpose. With an initial lack of designated latrines, men relieved themselves all along the ridges and up and down the slopes. As men wiped their arses with their shirts and sleeves and came down with dysentery in their hundreds, vital wells turned putrid. Water was still being shipped from Egypt, in dangerously low quantities, and all orders to ration it were ignored by this army of citizen volunteers. ‘The troops were unacclimatised. They lacked the hard and life-saving skills of regular soldiers. Orders were unavailing. Full water-bottles in all too many cases were emptied within an hour or two.’

         The other massive problem was the flies. As soon as a soldier lifted a piece of food to his mouth, or worst of all, opened a jam tin, it would literally be crawling with flies. Men had to cope by eating with one hand while waving the pests away with the other. The flies, like the rats of the Western Front, had no respect for privacy – they flew into your mouth, up your nose, and buzzed in swarms around your face. And, like the rats, they had no respect for the dead. Out in 58no-man’s-land, ‘they bloated and gorged on the flesh of corpses,’ covering the swollen, rotting bodies of Irishman and Turk alike.

         Over the days that followed, attack after attack went in, but Edward King managed to stay out of the fighting. His battalion was never in the thick of battle, or as King himself put it, they did not ‘add to its butcher’s bill’. Their sister battalion, the 5th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers, however, had not been so lucky. After advancing just 1,000 yards across no-man’s-land, with barely any artillery support and no diversionary attacks to draw away Turkish attention, they only managed to fight their way to a position just in front of the enemy trenches, before being withdrawn at night. When they returned to British positions, the 5th Royal Inniskilling Fusiliers – a battalion with a normal compliment of roughly 1,000 men – had been reduced to three officers and 200 other ranks.

         At the end of the Battle of Keretch Tepe Sirt, Edward King had lost many friends. He recorded that the 6th Royal Irish Fusiliers had only one officer left, and had lost three-quarters of its men in the fighting. ‘Lads, full of the zest of life; staid, older men, with wives and families waiting and praying for their safe return – most of them were gone. Some – the lucky ones – were on a hospitalship; the rest had been cut off suddenly and uselessly on this barren, sun-baked “corner of a foreign field” … Among the Division’s dead were, no doubt, many other men of equal ability and promise – potential leaders of their generation in various walks of life, now thrown away on the scrap-heap of war.’
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